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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  )  
      ) 
   Plaintiff,   ) 
      )  No. 3:12-CR-107 
v.      )  
      )  (PHILLIPS/SHIRLEY) 
MICHAEL R. WALLI,   ) 
MEGAN RICE, and    ) 
GREG BOERTJE-OBED   ) 
      ) 
   Defendant.  ) 
 

 
DEFENDANTS’ SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF OPPOSING THE  

GOVERNMENT’S MOTION TO PRECLUDE CERTAIN DEFENSES  
BASED ON THE NEW CHARGES OF SABOTAGE 

 
On December 4, 2012, Defendants Michael R. Walli, Megan Rice, and Greg Boertje-

Obed were reindicted with a new and more serious charge of sabotage under 18 U.S.C. § 

2155(a).1  See Superseding Indictment, Doc. 55.  Specifically, the Superseding Indictment 

provides: 

The Grand Jury charges that, on or about July 28, 2012, within the Eastern 
District of Tennessee, the defendants, MICHAEL R. WALLI, MEGAN RICE, 
and GREG BOERTJE- OBED, aiding and abetting each other, with the intent to 
injure, interfere with, and obstruct the national defense of the United States, did 
willfully injure, destroy, and contaminate, and attempt to injure, destroy and 

                                                        
1 Defendants were originally charged by a Grand Jury on August 7, 2012 on three counts: (1) 
depredation against government property under 18 U.S.C. § 1361 [punishable by up to ten years 
imprisonment]; (2) attempting to injure property in the special maritime and territorial 
jurisdiction of the United States under 18 U.S.C. § 1363 [punishable by up to five years 
imprisonment]; and (3) misdemeanor trespass under 42 U.S.C. §2278a(c), 10 C.F.R. §§ 860.3 
and 860.5(b) [punishable by up to one year imprisonment].  See Indictment [Doc. 2].  In its 
Superseding Indictment [Doc. 55] of December 4, 2012, the prosecution dropped the 
misdemeanor trespass count and replaced it with a charge of sabotage under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a) 
and §2152.  The other two counts remain.       
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contaminate national-defense premises, specifically, buildings and grounds of the 
Y-12 National Security Complex, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 
Sections 2155(a), 2151 and 2.   
 

In light of this new charge, defendants wish to supplement their Memorandum In Support of 

their Response to the United States’ Motion to Limit Their Defenses, which was previously filed 

in this matter, prior to their reindictment with the significantly more serious offense of sabotage.  

Defendants assert that for the reasons set forth below, as well as those in their original 

memorandum, they must be allowed to fully present evidence of all relevant defenses to the 

crimes they are charged with and to introduce all evidence at trial in support of such defenses. 

 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a), entitled “Destruction of national-defense materials, national-defense 

premises or national-defense utilities,” provides: 

(a) Whoever, with intent to injure, interfere with, or obstruct the national defense 
of the United States, willfully injures, destroys, contaminates or infects, or 
attempts to so injure, destroy, contaminate or infect any national-defense material, 
national-defense premises, or national-defense utilities, shall be fined under this 
title or imprisoned not more than 20 years, or both, and, if death results to any 
person, shall be imprisoned for any term of years or for life. 

 
Section 2155(a) is part of the Federal Sabotage Act, which was passed in 1918 during World 

War I and, as originally enacted, was applicable only when the United States was at war.  See 

Pub. L. No. 65-135, §§ 1-3, 40 Stat. 533 (1918).  In 1940, section 2155 of the Act was added to 

make it a federal crime to sabotage the national defense in times of peace.  See Pub. L. No. 76-

886, § 5, 54 Stat. 1220-21 (1940). 

The very nature of this new charge, couched in the federal sabotage statute and raising 

national defense issues, undermines on its face the government’s effort to limit certain defenses 

and constrain certain topics from the courtroom conversation.  When defendants are charged 

with injuring the national defense, common sense dictates that defendants must be allowed to 

discuss at the very least the U.S. national defense policy regarding nuclear weapons and defend 
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themselves by proving the policy’s illegality under U.S. and international law and why their 

actions were therefore justified. 

With the addition of the new sabotage charge, the government certainly cannot be 

allowed to suppress the facts and true nature of this case and recast it as one in which defendants 

trespassed onto and damaged generic government property as their Motion to Preclude seeks to 

do.  As the prosecution will have to admit to make their case of sabotage to national defense 

against defendants, the Y-12 facility is not just some generic government property, but is a 

production center for thousands of nuclear weapons.  As a result, defendants’ defenses regarding 

the illegality of nuclear weapons under international law become essential to a fair trial. 

Importantly, section 2155(a) has two essential elements: (1) the defendant must “willfully 

injure[ ], destroy[ ], [or] contaminate[ ], ... any national-defense material, national-defense 

premises, or national-defense utilities”; and (2) defendant must act with the “intent to injure, 

interfere with, or obstruct the national defense of the United States.”  United States v. Platte, 401 

F.3d 1176 (10th Cir. 2005).  This second element requiring defendant to act with the intent to 

injure/obstruct the national defense of the United States necessarily makes defendants’ motive 

and reasons for their actions relevant.  Defendants must be allowed to tell the whole truth about 

their motives for their actions, which according to their own statement which they read when 

arrested, includes aspects of the law of necessity, international law, the Nuremburg principles, 

the First Amendment, the immorality of nuclear weapons, religious, moral and political beliefs 

regarding nuclear weapons, and the United States government’s policy regarding nuclear 

weapons—all which the government seeks to prevent defendants discussing. 
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Thus, defendants assert that by bringing this charge of national defense sabotage, the 

government has in fact cemented the relevance and importance of the very defenses which it 

seeks to preclude defendants from invoking.   

Furthermore, in its Motion to Preclude [Doc. 45], the prosecution relies heavily on this 

Court’s previous disallowance of such defenses in “similar cases involving anti-nuclear 

trespassers.”2  However, the previous cases upon which the prosecution relies in support of its 

motion to preclude did not address a sabotage charge under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a), but instead 

merely dealt with charges of misdemeanor trespass.  Therefore, the Court cannot simply rely on 

its previous rationale in these rulings, but must look at this as an issue of first impression in this 

Court. 

 Importantly, in United States v. Kabat, 797 F.2d 580 (10th Cir. 1986), a similar case to 

the one at issue here where nuclear protestors were charged with sabotage under § 2155(a) [and 

one of the very few cases to charge protestors engaged in civil disobedience with sabotage under 

§ 2155(a)], the Eighth Circuit noted that “the district court allowed testimony on the destructive 

power of nuclear weapons, the ‘offensive’ nature of the newer nuclear missiles, the alleged 

escalation of risks from the availability of nuclear weapons and the nuclear buildup, the role in 

history of civil disobedience, international law, and the defendants’ beliefs that, based upon the 

statements of religious leaders, they were required by the higher law of God to prevent the crime 

against humanity and destruction of God's world represented by the nuclear threat.”  (emphasis 

supplied).  Defendants in the present case are likewise entitled to be able to present to the court 

and the jury similar evidence in defense of the charge of sabotage. 

                                                        
2 Specifically, the government cited to United States v. Mellen, No. 3:02-cr-47 (E.D. Tenn. Sept. 
4, 2002) and United States v. Gump, No. 3:10-cr-94 (E.D. Tenn. May 6, 2011).  See 
Government’s Motion to Preclude Defendants from Introducing Evidence in Support of Certain 
Justification Defenses [Doc. 45], p. 3. 
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Therefore, based on reasons set forth above, and in their previous response to the 

government’s motion to preclude, this court must reject the government’s motion to preclude 

defendants from presenting defenses based on necessity; international law; Nuremburg 

principles; First Amendment protections; the alleged immorality of nuclear weapons; good 

motive; religious, moral or political beliefs regarding nuclear weapons; and the United States 

government’s policy regarding nuclear weapons. 

 
Respectfully submitted, 

 
/s William P. Quigley    
William P. Quigley, admitted pro hac vice   
Loyola University New Orleans   
7214 St. Charles Avenue   
New Orleans, LA 70118   
Quigley77@gmail.com   
504.710.3074   
   
Chris Irwin   
BPR 025478   
POB 20363   
Knoxville, TN   
Attorneys for Michael Walli   
 
/s Francis L. Lloyd, Jr.   
Law Office of Francis L. Lloyd, Jr.   
9111 Cross Park Drive   
Suite d-200   
865-470-4077   
865-978-6504 Fax   
FLLloydJr@gmail.com   
Counsel for Defendant Sr. Megan Rice   
   
Greg Boerte-Obed   
Pro Se   
   
   
  
 
 

Case 3:12-cr-00107   Document 74-1   Filed 01/18/13   Page 5 of 6   PageID #: 562



 6 

Certificate of Service   
   
I certify that this document was served on all parties by filing it electronically on January 18,   
2013.     
  
    /s William P Quigley   
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